
 
 

PROCUREMENT DEPARTMENT 
2 MONTGOMERY STREET, 3RD FL. 

JERSEY CITY, NJ  07302 
3/25/2013 

 
ADDENDUM # 2 

 
To prospective Proposer(s) on RFP # 30744 for Unarmed, Uniformed Security Guard 
Services at John F. Kennedy International Airport (JFK), LaGuardia Airport (LGA), 
Newark Liberty International Airport (EWR), Stewart International Airport (SWF) and 
Teterboro Airport (TEB) 
 
   Due back on 4/4/2013, no later than 2:00PM  

I. CHANGES/MODIFICATIONS  

The following changes/modifications are hereby made to the solicitation documents: 
 

A. On Page 14, the third bullet point under “Overall Experience of Firm, Technical 
Expertise and Financial Capability”, Delete: “expertise of the Proposer and its 
senior management team.” and Replace with: “expertise of the Proposer and its 
management team.” 

B. On Page 22, in the section titled “Overall Experience of Firm, Technical Experience 
and Financial Capability”, the second paragraph of subsection a), Delete: “The 
Proposer shall submit a listing of all Unarmed, Uniformed Security Guard Services 
Contracts that were performed by or are currently being performed by the Proposer 
within the last five (5) years.”  

Replace with: “Proposer shall submit a listing of Unarmed, Uniformed Guard 
Services Contracts.  The list should include all contracts similar to the services 
required herein that were performed by or are currently being performed by the 
Proposer within the last five (5) years.  If the Proposer includes a list that does not 
contain all responsive contracts, the Proposer shall state that the list has been 
filtered in the Proposal and shall set forth the criteria by which the list was 
filtered.”  

C. On Page 22, under subsection b.), Delete: “submit experience of Proposer’s senior 
 management team” and Replace with: “submit experience of Proposer’s  
 management team”. 
D.  On Page 22, in the section titled “Overall Experience of Firm, Technical Experience 

and Financial Capability”, at the end of the first paragraph of subsection b), Delete: 
“including, but not limited to:” and Replace with: “including, where applicable or 
appropriate:” 
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E.  On Page 25 and Page 26, Replace:  

the number for paragraph “1.” with the letter “d)” 
the number for paragraph “2.” with the letter “e)” 
the number for paragraph “3.” with the letter “f)” 
the number for paragraph “4.” with the letter “g)” 
the number for paragraph “5.” with the letter “h)” 
the number for paragraph “6.” with the letter “i)” 
the number for paragraph “7.” with the letter “j)” 
the number for paragraph “8.” with the letter “k)” 
the number for paragraph “9.” with the letter “l)” 
the number for paragraph “10.” with the letter “m)” 
the number for paragraph “11.” with the letter “n)” 
the number for paragraph “12.” with the letter “o)” 
the number for paragraph “13.” with the letter “p)” 
the number for paragraph “14.” with the letter “q)” 
the number for paragraph “15.” with the letter “r)” 
 

F.  On Page 33,  Delete:  “B.” in its entirety.   

Replace with:  
B.1   The term “CSO” shall mean the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey’s 

Chief Security Officer.” 
 

B.2  The term “Airport Manager”, “Manager”, “General Manager” shall mean 
the CSO’s duly authorized representative at the particular airport where the 
services are being performed (John F. Kennedy International Airport, 
LaGuardia Airport, Newark Liberty International Airport, Teterboro Airport or 
Stewart International Airport).”  

G.  On Page 56, Insert an asterisk (“*”) after “Minimum Direct Salary”.  

H.  On Page 63, Section 16 entitled “Agency Authority”, Delete: entirely and  
Replace with: “The Port Authority of New & New Jersey’s Chief Security Officer 
(CSO) shall have the overall responsibility for all aspects of this Contract. The 
Contractor shall take direction from and perform the Contract to the satisfaction of 
the Port Authority.  The duly authorized representative of the CSO at each of the Port 
Authority Airports enumerated in this Contract, shall have the overall responsibility 
for managing the operational aspects of this Contract and make the determination 
with respect to requests for waivers under this Contract.  Waiver requests must be 
submitted in writing.”  

I. On Page 100, Delete the first sentence of paragraph C. in Section 29 “Tours of Duty.  
Insert: “No guard shall be on duty for more than eight (8) hours of coverage for any 
single post within a 24-hour period, except in the case of an emergency situation, nor 
shall any guard be scheduled for more than (40) hours of duty per week.” 

J.  On Page 105, in the last paragraph on the page, Delete: “who do not meet the 
requirements of paragraph “B” above,” and Replace with: “who do not meet the 
requirements of paragraph “A” and its subsections above, in this Section 31.” 
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K.  On Page 107, in Section 32 entitled “Personnel Folders”, in the first sentence Delete: 
“set forth in Section 32” and Replace with: “set forth in Section 31”. 

L. On Page 119, in the first sentence of Section 40, entitled “Transitioning Services at 
Start/Termination of the Contract”, Insert: “approved” after the words “Port 
Authority”. 

M.  New Annual Calculation Forms for the following positions: Operations Assistant and 
Assistant Office Manager.   

N.  Delete in its entirety the Monthly Management Fee Calculation Forms for EWR, 
LGA and JFK and Replace it with the attachment with annotated revision date of 
3/25/2013 

O. COPIES OF SITE VISITS SIGN-IN SHEETS FOR EWR, LGA & JFK 

P. EXAMPLE OF GUARD POST FOR TEB AND SWF    

II.   PROPOSER'S QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS 

The following information is available in response to questions submitted by 
prospective Proposers.  The responses should not be deemed to answer all questions, 
which have been submitted by Proposers to the Port Authority.  It addresses only 
those questions, which the Port Authority has deemed to require additional 
information and/or clarification.  The fact that information has not been supplied with 
respect to any questions asked by a Proposers does not mean or imply, nor should it 
be deemed to mean or imply, any meaning, construction, or implication with respect 
to the terms.  

The Port Authority makes no representations, warranties or guarantees that the 
information contained herein is accurate, complete or timely or that such information 
accurately represents the conditions that would be encountered during the 
performance of the Contract. The furnishing of such information by the Port 
Authority shall not create or be deemed to create any obligation or liability upon it for 
any reason whatsoever and each Proposer, by submitting its Proposal, expressly 
agrees that it has not relied upon the foregoing information, and that it shall not hold 
the Port Authority liable or responsible therefor in any manner whatsoever.  
Accordingly, nothing contained herein and no representation, statement or promise, 
of the Port Authority, its Commissioners, officers, agents, representatives, or 
employees, oral or in writing, shall impair or limit the effect of the warranties of the 
Bidder required by this Proposal or Contract and the Proposer agrees that it shall not 
hold the Port Authority liable or responsible therefor in any manner whatsoever. 

The Questions and Answers numbering sequence will be continued sequentially in 
any forthcoming Addenda that may be issued.   

 
Question # 1 
 

RFP Reference page 3 Attachment B – Part II Contract Specific 
Terms & Conditions. Please clarify that the attachment should be 
listed on the Table of Contents (page 3) as Attachment B – Part I 
Contract Specific Terms & Conditions. 
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Answer #  1 
 

Refer to Addendum #1 dated March 12, 2013, item B. in the 
Changes/Modifications section.   
 

Question # 2 
 

Please describe the Port Authority’s position on retention in its 
evaluation of incumbent contractor performance in this area. Please 
also identify the Port Authority’s preferred length of employee 
retention time (in months) given historical knowledge. 

Answer # 2 
 

Firms should propose based upon information and requirements set 
forth in the RFP, and Proposals will be evaluated in accordance with 
the criteria set forth in Paragraph 5 entitled “Evaluation Criteria and 
Ranking” in Section 1 entitled “Information For Proposers on this 
Request for Proposals”. 
 

Question # 3 
 

Please provide the quantity of security staff at each airport (JFK, 
LGA, EWR) that the Port Authority required the incumbent 
Contractor to remove from the site regardless of reason in calendar  
Year 2012. 
 

Answer # 3 
 

Firms should propose based upon requirements set forth in this RFP, 
and will be evaluated in accordance with the criteria set forth in 
Paragraph 5 entitled “Evaluation Criteria and Ranking” in Section 1, 
entitled “Information For Proposers on this Request for Proposals”. 
 

Question # 4 
 

Page 22, paragraph F. 2. a. The Port Authority requires that the 
Proposer submit a listing of all current unarmed, uniformed, and 
Security Guard Services Contracts within the last five years.   

a. Please confirm that the Port Authority expects the 
Proposer to create a list of contracts using all three 
categories identified (unarmed, uniformed, Guard 
Services Contracts). 

b. Please clarify an acceptable quantity of references in 
each category (unarmed, uniformed, and Security 
Guard Services Contracts). 

c. Please indicate if the Port Authority can establish 
parameters for such a listing, e.g., in terms of scope 
and relevance to this RFP, to allow for the 
submission of a manageable amount of information.  

 
Answer # 4 
 

See Changes/Modifications Item B in this Addendum.  

 
Question # 5 
 

Page 22-23, Section F. 2. b.  The Port Authority requires the 
Proposer to submit experience of its senior management team in 
managing similar employee management programs, and it provides 
a list of specific areas.   
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a. Please provide a definition to “senior management 
team;” i.e., position title; function, corporate, 
regional.  

b. Please confirm that the Port Authority expects the 
Proposer to submit the experience level in each of the 
16 items listed for each individual senior 
management team member.  If this is not what the 
Port Authority desires, please clarify how the 
Proposal should interpret this section. 

 
Answer # 5 
 

See Changes/Modifications Items A and C in this Addendum. 
 The Proposer shall interpret and define “management team” in the 
context of its firm, structure and respond with appropriate titles.  
With respect to the experience sought, see Changes/Modifications 
Item D in this Addendum.  
 

Question # 6 
 

Page 119, Section 40. Transitioning Services at Start/Termination of 
the Contract. The Contractor is required to follow a Port Authority 
transition plan, when applicable, to ensure an orderly transition at 
the commencement. 

a. Please provide the Port Authority’s transition plan. 
b. Is it the intent of the Port Authority to adopt and/or finalize the 

proposer’s end of term transition plan, or will the Port Authority 
and outgoing Contractor develop an agreed upon end of the 
term transition plan at some point during the term of the 
contract? 

Answer # 6 See Changes/Modifications Item L in this Addendum.  Please see 
also page 24, a) 4, and Section 40., entitled “Transitioning Services 
at Start/Termination of the Contract.”   
 

Question # 7 
 

Please indicate if the “Estimated Annual Hours” that appear on 
Attachment C-Cost Proposal Forms related to each airport are 
actual, proposed, or being used to ensure all Offeror’s submit a price 
using the same quantity of annual labor hours. 
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Answer # 7 
 

See the  Cost Proposal Forms.  The quantities set forth in the Cost 
Proposal Forms are estimated only for the purpose of Proposal 
comparison. The Port Authority makes no representations as to what 
the actual quantities may be. The Contractor's compensation will be 
computed based solely on the actual services provided. 
 

Question # 8 
 

It is noted that the annual labor hours that appear for each airport on 
Attachment C-Cost Proposal Forms do not correspond to the 
quantity of individuals identified in Section 30 (Schedule of Guard 
Service), page 101-102.   

Answer #  8 
 

Posts and post hours are subject to change, and may vary during the 
course of the Contract.   
 

Question # 9 
 

Page 7 of the RFP, Section 1.E., provides that “Consistent with 
environmentally preferable procurement practices, the Port 
Authority requests all documents submitted to be in a form that can 
be easily recycled (i.e., no plastic covers or binding) and to provide 
only supporting literature which directly relates to the Proposal 
being submitted.” Would the Authority (“the Authority”) be 
opposed to offerors using three-ring binders made from recycled 
materials to submit proposals? 
 

Answer # 9 
 

The Port Authority will accept three-ring binders made from 
recycled materials.   
 

Question # 10 
 

Page 16 of the RFP, Section 6 provides, “All M/WBE 
subcontractors listed on the M/WBE Participation Plan must be 
certified by the Port Authority in order for the Contractor to receive 
credit toward the M/WBE goals set forth in this Contract.” 
a.     Do the minority and woman-owned business enterprises listed 

by offerors in Attachment G need to be certified by the 
Authority at the time of proposal submission or at the time of 
start of service under the contract? 

 
b.    Instead of proposing only M/WBE businesses certified by The 

Port Authority, in order to provide a greater opportunity for 
more M/WBE businesses, would the Authority consider its 
M/WBE subcontracting goals met if offerors propose M/WBE 
businesses that are properly certified by other organizations? 
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Answer # 10 
 a. If not already certified by the Port Authority, the proposed 

M/WBE subcontractor’s M/WBE application must be received 
by the Port Authority’s Office of Business Diversity and Civil 
Rights (OBDCR) by the Proposal Due Date.  It should be noted, 
however, that if the applying firm is found not eligible for 
M/WBE certification, the selected contractor is still responsible 
for the subcontracting goals proposed. 

b. The Port Authority will not consider certifications by other 
organizations to meet the M/WBE subcontracting goals.  

 
Question # 11 
 

Page 22 of the RFP, Section 8.f.2.a asks for a listing of all of the 
offeror’s contracts performed over the last 5 years. Do offerors 
also need to provide these contract references for any proposed 
subcontractors?  

 
Answer # 11 
 

The Proposer is not required to submit references for 
subcontractors at the time of Proposal submission.  The Port 
Authority may subsequently request references for proposed 
subcontractors at any time.  

 
Question # 12 
 

Page 22 of the RFP, Section F.2.b provides in relevant part, “The 
Proposer shall submit experience of Proposer’s senior 
management team in managing similar employee management 
programs, including, but not limited to:”  
 
Will the Authority please clarify whether this specification 
references the offeror’s senior corporate management team or the 
proposed senior management team for the Port Authority security 
contract?  

 
Answer # 12 
 

This section was changed in this Addendum, 
Changes/Modifications Item A.  This now refers to the Proposer’s 
management team.  Experience of “managerial and supervisory 
personnel employed by the firm who are to be exclusively 
dedicated to the Contract” is sought on page 24, Section F.3. b).  

Question # 13 
 

Will the Authority please explain what “Employee references” 
represents - are “employee references” considered background 
checks of some other form of reference?   

 
Answer # 13 See Changes/Modifications Item D in this Addendum.  Proposer 

shall interpret “Employee references” and respond accordingly, 
where appropriate.  
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Question # 14 
 

Page 24 of the RFP, Section 8.F.3.b.4, provides that “The resumes 
of the individuals who are being recommended for [the managerial 
and supervisory personnel] positions should be included in the 
submission.”  Would the Authority please confirm whether the 
positions listed on page 56 – ‘ii. Minimum Direct Salary’ – are 
considered to be the managerial and supervisory personnel 
positions referenced for which resumes are requested? 

 
Answer # 14 
 

Yes.   
 

Question # 15 
 

If there are additional positions for which resumes are requested 
with offeror proposals, aside from those positions provided in 
numbers 1-8 on page 56 of the RFP, what are those additional 
positions? 

 
Answer #  15 
 

Proposer should include any other managerial and supervisory 
positions it deems appropriate, based upon the services required 
herein.   

 
Question# 16 
 

Will the Authority please confirm the current contract’s wage, 
health and supplemental benefits so that offerors may ensure that 
the requested plan and certification is complete? 

 
Answer # 16 
 

The wage and benefit requirements for the Contract that is the 
subject of this solicitation are set forth in the RFP: See Contract 
Specific Terms and Conditions, Page 54, Section 12 entitled 
“Wages, Health, and Supplemental Benefits”. 

 
Question # 17 
 

Are there any minimum salaries or other direct benefits for these 
positions mandated by the Authority?   

 
Answer # 17 
 

Refer to page 57 of the RFP, first paragraph denoted by an asterisk 
(“*”). 

 
Question # 18 
 

Pages 25-26 of the RFP, Items 1 – 15 listed after Section 8.F.3.c.3 
seem to be fragmented from the Port Authority’s outline. Could 
the Authority please clarify whether items 1 – 15 on pages 25-26 
should fall below Section 8.F.3.c.3, if they are standalone 
subsections of Section “F. Proposal”, or if they are part of a 
different section? 

 
Answer # 18 
 

See Changes/Modifications Item E in this Addendum. 
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Question # 19 
 

Pricing Schedules, Attachment C.  Would the Port Authority 
please identify how many vehicles are currently being provided at 
each airport by the incumbent, as during the site visits, there 
appear to be more vehicles than are specified in the solicitation? 

 
Answer # 19 
 

Firms should propose based upon requirements set forth in this 
RFP, and will be evaluated in accordance with the criteria set forth 
in Paragraph 5 entitled “Evaluation Criteria and Ranking” in the 
Section entitled “Information For Proposers on this Request for 
Proposals”. 

Question # 20 
 

Page 42 of the RFP, Section 6.B.9, states that the “Contractor 
understands that it will not be separately reimbursed for the cost of 
the Operations Assistant, Assistant Office Manager, Officer 
Manager, Human Resource Manager…unless those costs are 
shown on the pricing forms any such costs are considered covered 
by the Management fees.”  The Schedule of Guard Service on 
page 101-102 lists an Operations Assistant at JFK, LGA, and 
EWR, however this position is not listed in the Cost Proposal 
Forms (Attachment C) for JFK, LGA, and EWR.  In addition, the 
Operations Assistant is not listed in the monthly Management Fee 
Calculation (Attachment F) for the airports. Could the Authority 
please provide a rationale for why the Operations Assistant 
position was excluded from the Cost Proposal Form and monthly 
Management Fee Calculation? Will the Authority please clarify 
whether the costs associated with the Operations Assistant should 
be identified in Attachment F or if the costs should be rolled into 
the bill rates of the other labor categories? 

 
Answer # 20 The Pricing Sheets were revised.  The Operations Assistant should 

be included on the Monthly Management Fee calculation.  See 
Changes/Modifications Item M and N in this Addendum. 
 

Question # 21 
 

Page 46 of the RFP, Section 10, outlines the inclusion of a 
Liquidated Damages provision within the contract, which is 
further identified throughout sections A through K. Will the 
Authority please provide how many incidents have occurred 
within the last four years for each category and at each of the five 
sites which have warranted the referenced liquidated damages? 
Will the Authority please provide what types of infractions these 
were? 
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Answer # 21 
 

The requirements, specifications and liquidated damages 
provisions in the current contracts are not identical to those in the 
present RFP.  

 
Question # 22 
 

Will the Authority please clarify whether the same penalty 
structures are in place under the current contract? Page 51 of the 
RFP, section K specifically provides that a 200% assessment shall 
be imposed for any infractions exceeding the stated amount during 
the term of the contract and inclusive of all option periods and 
extensions. Will the Authority please clarify if this penalty is 
imposed for all specific sections?  

 
Answer #  22 
 

The requirements, specifications and liquidated damages 
provisions in the current contracts are not identical to those in RFP 
#30744.  The provisions set forth in Section 10. entitled 
“Liquidated Damages” are not penalties. The Manager has the 
right to determine if liquidated damages will be assessed and 
imposed. 

Question # 23 
 

Page 57 of the RFP, section 12.D.3 provides “The Cost of Health 
Benefits shall be as set forth in the Calculation of Average Hourly 
Rate Form and accepted by the Authority, with an exact numerical 
(dollar) requirement for Health Benefits.”  Would the Authority 
please provide the age, gender, home zip code and family size of 
the incumbent employees currently utilizing the Health Benefits 
plan so that offerors can accurately estimate Health Benefit costs? 

 
Answer # 23 
 

The Port Authority does not possess the information requested.  

Question# 24 
 

Do employees under the current contract have the option to opt out 
of the health benefits program if the employee and/or their family 
is already covered by another health benefits provider? 

 
Answer # 24 
 

 The wage and benefit requirements for RFP #30744 are set forth 
in the RFP: Contract Specific Terms and Conditions, Section 12, 
“Wages, Health, and Supplemental Benefits”.  
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Question# 25 
 

Page 100 of the RFP, Section 29.B provides “For the purpose of 
computing the required Average Hourly Wage and Supplemental 
Benefits, meal and relief period hours will not be considered hours 
worked; however, wages paid for such periods will be considered 
in such computation.”  Will the Authority please clarify whether 
guards will be compensated for both the 20 minute break and the 
30 minute meal period? 

 
Answer # 25 
 

The method and manner in which the Contractor compensates its 
employees is a Contractor’s  business decision.  Proposer(s) 
attention is called to the RFP: Contract Specific Terms and 
Conditions, Section 12, “Wages, Health, and Supplemental 
Benefits” and Standard Contract Terms and Conditions, Section 9, 
entitled “Harmony.”  

 
Question # 26 
 

Page 100 of the RFP, Section 29.C, provides that “No guard shall 
be on duty for more than 8 hours of post coverage within a 24 hour 
period….” however the following subsection, D, provides that 
“No guard shall be on duty for more than 12 hours of post 
coverage within a 24 hour period.”  Will the Authority please 
clarify what is the maximum amount of hours a guard may 
consecutively work? 

 
Answer # 26 
 

See Changes/Modifications Item I in this Addendum. 

Question# 27 
 

Page 105 of the RFP, bottom of page, provides that “…who do not 
meet the requirements of paragraph ‘B’….”  There does not appear 
to be a Paragraph B.  Will the Authority please clarify what 
paragraph is referenced here? 

 
Answer # 27 See Changes/Modifications Item J in this Addendum. 

 
Question # 28 
 

Page 105 of the RFP, Section 31.A.12 provides “The drug-
screening test shall be conducted by an independent firm other 
than the Contractor, who shall be approved by the Port Authority.”  
Will the Authority please clarify what the process is for obtaining 
its approval of an independent firm for these purposes?  Would 
such an independent firm need to be approved before the proposal 
is submitted or simply before testing is to be provided?  Will the 
Authority please provide the contact information for any currently 
approved drug screening vendors with the Authority? 

 
Answer # 28 
 

The Port Authority does not recommend testing facilities.  The 
testing firm is not required to be approved prior to proposal 
submission.    
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Question # 29 
 

Page 105 of the RFP, Section 12 (top of page) regarding drug 
tests, provides “The tests shall be administered by and at the sole 
cost and expense of the Contractor, at the commencement of the 
Contract, and prior to hiring new employees.”  Page 105 of the 
RFP, number 13 regarding drug tests, provides “In each year of 
the Contract, all Contractor personnel…shall be randomly tested 
thereafter at least once per year in each year of the contract.”  Will 
the Authority please clarify whether the intent of this provision is 
to conduct annual testing for 100% of the identified personnel 
within this section, or whether “randomly” refers to only a certain, 
‘random’ percentage of the group as whole? 

 
Answer #  29 
 

Yes.  All specified positions shall be randomly tested during each 
year of the term of the Contract.  

 
Question # 30 
 

Page 123 of the RFP, subsection B, provides “The Port Authority 
shall have the right…to elect to temporarily or permanently 
require the Contractor to provide all fuel needed to fuel the 
vehicles used in the operation of the Service.”  If the Port 
Authority elects to have the Contractor purchase fuel, will the 
Authority please clarify how the cost will be repaid to the 
Contractor? In preparing the proposal response, the offeror will be 
unable to price an unknown amount based on an unknown action.  

 
Answer # 30 
 

See  page 122, Section 45. entitled “Fueling”, subsection B., i. 
through iii.    

 
Question # 31 
 

Attachment C to the RFP provides estimated annual hours for full-
time and part-time guards. May offerors propose their own 
recommended full-time/part-time allocation or are they required to 
adhere to the allocation of hours provided? 

 
Answer # 31 
 

The allocation of hours is an estimate, not a requirement. 
 

Question # 32 
 

Attachment C to the RFP, Total Estimated Contract Price 
Summary Sheet, provides a Background Screening Allotment fee 
of $41,000.00 per year for all airports.  Will the Authority please 
clarify if this $41,000.00 fee includes the background costs 
associated with the requirements in Section 27, Security 
Requirements; Section 8.F.4, Contractor Identity 
Check/Background Screening Plan; and Section 49, Additional 
Background Screening Requirements? Will the Authority please 
clarify whether the Background Screening Allotment fee includes 
costs associated with Physical, Drug and Medical testing? 
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Answer # 32 
 

The referenced fee shall only cover additional background 
screening, which may be requested under Section 49, entitled 
“Additional Background Screening Requirements”.  The method 
and manner by which all other background screening, physical, 
drug and medical testing requirements of the RFP are 
incorporated into a Proposer’s pricing is a business decision, but 
shall be done in a manner consistent with the Cost Proposal 
Forms.   

 
Question# 33 
 

Answer #4 provided in Addendum #1 dated 3/12/13 provides that 
non-supervisory, non-confidential and non-clerical employees at 
JFK, LGA and EWR are currently governed by a collective 
bargaining agreement.  Would employees working at SWF or 
TEB under this new contract be governed by collective 
bargaining agreements or have any other union representation?  If 
so, who would be the parties to these CBAs? 

 
Answer # 33 
 

Proposers are advised to ascertain whether any labor organization  
(as defined in 29 U.S.C.§ 152) now represents (or is currently 
seeking to represent) employees who currently perform any aspect 
of the operations to be performed hereunder and their attention is 
directed to the Section of this RFP entitled “Harmony” included in 
the “Standard Contract Terms and Conditions” hereunder. 

 
Question # 34 
 

Is a performance bond and/or bid bond required for this contract? 

Answer # 34 No performance and/or bid bonds are required for this 
procurement. 

Question # 35 
 

Have the Excel calculation forms been updated reflecting the 
changes/modifications made in Addendum 1 dated 3/12/2013 for 
RFP # 30744? 

Answer # 35 
 

Yes. A blank copy of the revised pricing sheets reflecting changes 
in Addendum 1 and 2 in Microsoft Excel format can be obtained 
by contacting the Procurement Representative on the cover page 
of this solicitation.  

 
Question # 36 
 

If financial statements from the previous year are not yet 
available, can the contractor provide a copy of the most current 
financial statement, i.e. from 2011? 

Answer #  36 
 

The Port will consider certified interim financial statements for 
2012. 
 

Question # 37 
 

Can a WBE perform 17% of the work and will that satisfy both 
the MBE and WBE requirements? 
 

Answer #  37 
 

See RFP page 16, provision 6 entitled “M/WBE Subcontracting 
Provisions”. The Authority requirement is for the selected 
proposer to use “good faith” efforts to provide meaningful 
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participation by Authority certified M/WBEs.  The good faith 
participation requirements are 12% of the Contract price for MBE 
and 5% for WBE. 

Question # 38 
 

Can an MBE perform 17% and will that satisfy both 
requirements? 

 
Answer #  38 
 

See response to question #37. 

Question # 39 
 

If a large business is an MBE can they have a WBE 
subcontractor fulfill 17% of the work and be in compliance? 

 
Answer #  39 
 

 See response to question 37. 

Question # 40 
 

If a large business is an MBE, must they have an MBE 
subcontractor? 

Answer #  40 
 

The Contractor awarded this Contract is required to comply with 
the M/WBE subcontracting provisions. 

Question # 41 
 

Can a large MBE joint venture with a small Port Authority 
approved WBE and fulfill all the goals? 

Answer #  41 
 

We encourage the participation of qualified, responsive, 
responsible and Authority certified MBEs and WBEs in this 
Contract.   

Question # 42 
 

Section 29, page 100, paragraphs C and D.  These paragraphs 
seem to contradict each other.  Would the Port Authority please 
clarify if the maximum amount of time an officer can normally 
be on duty is 8 or 12 hours? 

Answer #  42 
 

See response to question #26. 

Question # 43 Section 31, page 104, paragraph A., item 12 outlines the 
requirements of the officers.  Are these requirements the same as 
the current contract?  And if not, would the Port Authority please 
identify which requirements are new? 

 

Answer #  43 
 

Firms should propose based upon requirements set forth in this 
RFP, and will be evaluated in accordance with the criteria set 
forth in Paragraph 5 entitled “Evaluation Criteria and Ranking” 
in the Section entitled “Information For Proposers on this 
Request for Proposals”. 
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This communication should be initialed by you and annexed to your Proposal upon 
submission. 
 
In case any Proposer fails to conform to these instructions, its Proposal will nevertheless 
be construed as though this communication had been so physically annexed and initialed. 
 
     THE PORT AUTHORITY OF NY & NJ  
 
     DAVID GUTIERREZ, MANAGER 
     SPECIAL PURCHASING PROJECTS 
      
 
PROPOSER'S FIRM NAME: ______________________________________________ 
 
INITIALED: ____________________________________________________________ 
 
DATE: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
QUESTIONS CONCERNING THIS ADDENDUM MAY BE ADDRESSED TO            
LUKE BASSIS OR DAVID GUTIERREZ, WHO CAN BE REACHED AT  
(201) 395-3440 OR (201) 395-3433 RESPECTIVELY or at LBASSIS@PANYNJ.GOV 
OR DAVID.GUTIERREZ@PANYNJ.GOV. 
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